

What Works

Innovative Approaches to Improving Refugee Integration

By Silva Mathema February 2018



What Works

Innovative Approaches to Improving Refugee Integration

By Silva Mathema February 2018

Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 6 About methodology and data
- 9 Innovative solutions to overcome barriers and boost refugee integration
- 27 Collaboration is one of the key ways for programs to meet the needs of their clients
- 31 Common challenges among the programs and solutions to overcome them
- 35 Changing local perspectives toward refugees
- 37 Refugees contribute to their entire communities
- 39 Recommendations
- 43 Conclusion
- 44 About the author
- 46 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

Throughout its first year in office, the Trump administration has made a concerted effort to undermine the U.S. refugee resettlement program. One of the incoming administration's first acts was issuing an executive order seeking to limit the number of refugees who can enter the country, especially Muslims. More recently, the administration set the 2018 presidential determination—the annual target for refugee admissions—to the lowest level since the United States started setting presidential determinations pursuant to the 1980 Refugee Act.² The Trump administration also proposed massive funding cuts to vital programs that support refugees in the United States.³ It suggested cutting funding to the U.S. Refugee Admissions Program (USRAP), the umbrella program under the U.S. Department of State responsible for refugee admission and resettlement in the United States.⁴ If adopted, these cuts will further weaken the foundation of the U.S. refugee resettlement program.

In early December 2017, the U.S. Department of State told refugee resettlement organizations to scale back their operations and prepare to take in fewer refugees.⁵ These actions will undoubtedly hurt individuals seeking safety in the future, but they will also significantly harm the existing infrastructure that was set up to ease integration of refugees and has been built over decades by government and nongovernmental organizations. This research looks at several selected programs from across the country to explore and document the ways in which these efforts work to boost integration. At a time when many of these programs are under threat, this research aims to bring them into the spotlight and highlight how they have wide societal value.

Prior to the actions of the current administration, the United States played an important role in alleviating the worldwide humanitarian refugee crisis. One of the hallmarks of the U.S. refugee resettlement program—which has resettled more than 3 million refugees since 1975—is to provide refugees with assistance to ensure that they can quickly become economically self-sufficient.⁷ Refugees, in turn, become vital members of their local communities over time, joining the labor force, learning English, opening up businesses, and buying houses.8

Resettlement and integration of refugees in the United States takes place at the local level and generally is a public-private partnership. The placement and integration of refugees are handled through coordinated efforts of the State Department's Bureau of Population, Refugees, and Migration (PRM) and the Office of Refugee Resettlement (ORR) with nine resettlement agencies, which in turn work with hundreds of local affiliates in communities across America. These local affiliates, as well as many other nonprofits and other community groups, are dedicated to helping refugees resettled in their communities.

While research shows that refugees in the United States become well-integrated into their local communities over time, the critical role that local organizations—and the innovative work that they do—play in their integration is not well-documented. But given the drastic changes in refugee policy under the Trump administration, these programs are at a crossroads, facing a sudden and severe reduction in refugee admission slots and the prospect of decreased funding going forward.9

As this research shows, the Trump administration's negative actions do not take into consideration the critical work being done at the local level to successfully receive and integrate refugees into communities around the country. Local affiliates of resettlement agencies and other local nonprofits and community groups offer a combination of programs and initiatives to help refugees thrive, break down barriers, and boost their integration, eventually helping the entire community. The goal of this research is to highlight the work being done by these organizations while exploring the inner-workings of these programs, revealing unique, tried and tested ideas to fulfill the needs of their communities and the newcomers.

This research identifies several innovative programs in the United States that deliver diverse services to refugees. It examines why the programs work as well as they do and their impact on the lives of refugees and their families. The programs are loosely organized into four categories—employment; education; social integration; and targeted services for vulnerable refugees, such as children, refugees needing mental health, and others needing deaf services.

The main findings of the research pertaining to why these programs work are as follows:

1. Employment and entrepreneurship programs attribute their success to maintaining lasting relationships with employers to be informed about local job markets; to involving employers and experts while developing curriculums,

mentoring, and conducting trainings; and to using community resources to meet refugee needs.

- 2. Educational services use innovative techniques to increase access to English language and parenting classes, such as delivering these services to the homes of refugees. They also use staff and volunteers, many of whom are born in the United States or are former refugees, giving refugees and their families an opportunity to widen their circles.
- 3. Social integration initiatives focus on fostering productive interactions between refugees and other community members, as well as helping to educate all members of the community to become more understanding of each other in regard to their cultural norms and commonalities.
- 4. Specialized services, such as mental health, children's health, and deaf services, for vulnerable refugees aim to identify the needs of refugees at arrival and connect them to service providers where their barriers can be appropriately addressed.

In addition, based on the findings of the research, this report makes the following broader recommendations:

- The administration must restore the U.S. refugee resettlement program to its historical levels to match the global refugee needs.
- Organizations should develop flexible strategies to find diverse sets of funding, including reaching out to local funders to fill gaps left by the abdication of responsibility by the Trump administration.
- Organizations that serve refugees should do more to connect to and learn best practices from each other.
- As they prepare for a decrease in newly resettled refugees, organizations should consider expanding their services to the wider community while maintaining their specialized services for new refugees.
- Organizations should continue to invest in recruiting and training volunteers and interns, as they play a vital role in providing the refugees with networks beyond the refugee caseworkers and their own community, in addition to assisting organizations in their work.

 Regions and cities should consider forming umbrella organizations that focus on improving the integration process.

Following these broader recommendations will help ensure that the existing infrastructure to resettle and integrate new and established refugees is maintained and improved.

Global need vs. the Trump administration's stance toward refugees

In the past few years, the world's forcibly displaced population has reached record high numbers, with 65.6 million people displaced—including refugees, internally displaced people, and asylum-seekers—by the end of 2016.¹⁰ That year, more than 5.5 million Syrians were registered as refugees, as were 2.5 million Afghans and 1.4 million South Sudanese. The U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) projects that nearly 1.2 million people, more than 40 percent of whom are Syrians, will need resettlement in 2018.¹¹

Instead of stepping up efforts to protect people fleeing persecution and conflict, the Trump administration, starting with its January 2017 executive order, 12 slashed the number of refugee admissions for fiscal year 2017 from 110,000 to 50,000. This decreased the rank of the United States in per capita global resettlement from 4th in 2016 to 10th in 2017, behind smaller countries such as Monaco. ¹³ The proposed U.S. refugee admission target for 2018 further reduces the number to only 45,000—the lowest refugee admission target since 1980.14 This number of slots fails to match the immense global needs of resettlement.

In addition, the administration placed heightened restrictions on refugees from 11 countries in the Middle East and Africa, making it nearly impossible for refugees from these countries to be admitted to the United States. 15 These refugees already require a higher level of screening called the Security Advisory Opinions. The memo stated that the refugee admissions from these 11 countries will go through an additional 90-day review to minimize the threat to the United States. 16 Immediately after 90 days expired, the administration doubled down on their original order by announcing extra and onerous screening for these refugees.¹⁷ These actions will further limit refugee admissions in the current fiscal year; the 45,000 target is only the ceiling, not the floor, so it remains to be seen how many refugees will ultimately be resettled in fiscal year 2018.

Given the critical role of these organizations and their ideas, they need to be preserved for a time when the United States returns to its historical role as a beacon of freedom for those fleeing persecution. The United States is going through an anti-immigrant, anti-refugee moment now, driven by the Trump administration, but this will not last forever; the nation will once more take up the role of offering protection to the world's most vulnerable refugees. The damage already being done to the refugee resettlement infrastructure, however, could be quite significant, and that will hamper the ability of the United States to quickly turn the page on this current anti-refugee period. Highlighting the important work that these organizations perform and the value they provide to their communities could help to make the case for why they must be enabled to weather the storm so that they can serve the function the country will need them to once it moves beyond this negative environment.

Given the critical role of these organizations and their ideas, they need to be preserved for a time when the United States returns to its historical role as a beacon of freedom for those fleeing persecution.

About methodology and data

This research presents results from in-depth telephone interviews, conducted from June 2017 through September 2017, with program managers and coordinators of 24 programs that serve refugee populations in their communities. These programs are unique and, in many cases, not directly comparable, but they have certain shared attributes, such as methods of service delivery, barriers they face, and effects on refugees. Using these commonalities among the programs, this report categorizes them into four loosely defined groups. More specifically, nine programs are employment-related; six are education-related; five boost social integration; and four provide specialized services for children, refugees who need mental health services, and deaf refugees. The questionnaire was semistructured to provide flexibility and capture differences in the programs.

This research used a variety of techniques to identify programs and reach interviewees. First, it identified programs, initiatives, and a set of leaders of refugeeserving organizations through key experts from the refugee services field. 18 Next, it used the referrals of the leaders to discover potential interviewees, mostly program coordinators and managers, who were primarily responsible for running the program. Then, using these initial interviews, the study identified more potential interviewees. This method, known as snowball sampling, is a nonprobability sampling technique used to identify participants through existing participants.¹⁹ The interview transcripts were coded line by line using ATLAS.ti, a qualitative analysis software, to develop a codebook with common, unique, and emerging themes. The interviewer coded all the transcripts ensuring that the codes and themes developed are consistent among the interviews.

These selected programs served refugees who largely came from countries such as Somalia, Democratic Republic of Congo, Afghanistan, Bhutan, Nepal, Syria, Ethiopia, Burma, Iraq, and Cuba. While many programs had equal divisions of men and women served, a few programs were designed exclusively for refugee women, children, youth, and vulnerable populations. These specialized programs were targeted at hard-to-reach populations, providing them with basic services,

such as English language classes, to ease their integration in their communities. One of the main aims of this research is to highlight innovative ideas and practices and to serve as a guide to resolve some of the common yet difficult questions facing service providers.

The U.S. refugee program

Admission and resettlement

The United States is a signatory to the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees, which define a refugee as "someone who is unable or unwilling to return to their country of origin owing to a well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group, or political opinion."²⁰ According to the UNHCR, only a small subset of the world's refugees—less than 1 percent—ever get resettled.²¹

Refugees resettled in the United States typically come via referrals made by the UNHCR or, less frequently, a U.S. embassy. The PRM works with the U.S. Department of Homeland Security to rigorously screen these applicants. Refugees undergo layers of security checks involving biometric and background checks, several in-person interviews, and other interagency security checks that continue up to and at the time of arrival.²²

Once refugees have been cleared for admission, the PRM collaborates with nine domestic resettlement agencies to resettle them. The resettlement agencies are tasked with reviewing each refugee's file, matching their specific needs with community resources, and determining where to place them often according to the resources available, such as housing and employment.²³ The resettlement agencies maintained a network of 328 local affiliates in 191 local areas across the country.²⁴ When refugees finally arrive at the predetermined location, representatives from a local affiliate of a resettlement agency welcome them and begin their resettlement process.

The State Department's Reception and Placement Program is responsible for providing initial assistance and funding to resettle the refugees. The main goal of this program is to make refugees economically self-sufficient as soon as possible. Through the resettlement agencies, the Reception and Placement Program provides a one-time payment to help refugees meet expenses for necessities such as housing, food, and clothing, along with covering the operating expenses of the agency. However, the program's support

is limited to the first three months of arrival.²⁵ After this support ends, the ORR works with state and local governmental and nongovernmental agencies to provide funding for a variety of assistance to the eligible population for a longer term. For example, the ORR's Cash and Medical Assistance (CMA) program provides 100 percent reimbursement to states to cover services provided to refugees and eligible persons under three main programs: Refugee Cash Assistance (RCA), Refugee Medical Assistance (RMA), and the Unaccompanied Refugee Minors Program.²⁶ The ORR's clients who are not eligible for the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families program and Medicaid receive support through RCA and RMA. States vary the way they administer CMA and other state assistance programs. For example, some are public-private partnerships where states collaborate with a local resettlement agency; some are state-administered programs; and others are under Wilson-Fish programs, which are alternative options to state-administered programs and are operated by local resettlement agencies.²⁷

Additionally, assistance for employment-related services are provided through the ORR's Formula Refugee Social Services (RSS), available for as long as five years after arrival to the United States, or the Voluntary Agency Matching Grant Program, which is an alternative to RSS. Both are geared toward making refugees and eligible persons become economically self-sufficient within 120 to 180 days.²⁸ Another program—the Targeted Assistance Program (TAG)—is also focused on helping refugees become economically independent within one year of participating in the program.²⁹

To facilitate the employment goal, refugees get employment authorization as soon as they arrive and can apply for permanent residence one year after arrival.³⁰

Innovative solutions to overcome barriers and boost refugee integration

Nationally, there is evidence that over time, refugees tend to become comparable to the United States-born population along a variety of indicators, including labor force participation and business ownership, but there is a variation on how well refugees do according to their demographic characteristics such as national origin and gender, as well as their place of resettlement.³¹ While there is much debate about the reasons behind the discrepancies, one conclusion is that there are ways to increase successful integration among groups of refugees across resettlement locations. This research starts to scratch the surface of what can be done to improve integration experiences by highlighting innovative programs from across the nation. As previously stated, the programs fall under four topics drawn out by common themes from the interviews: employment; education; social integration; and targeted services for children, refugees who need mental health services, and deaf refugees.

Employment and entrepreneurship programs

Refugees encounter multiple barriers that prevent them from getting jobs commensurate with their experience and qualifications. These barriers can stem from limited English language proficiency, difficulty getting foreign credentials recognized locally, lack of networks in their field, and pressure to take any type of job to quickly become economically self-sufficient. Refugees often face these barriers when they first arrive, preventing them from meeting their full potential and forcing them to take jobs that do not match their qualifications. The employment and entrepreneurship programs covered in this study primarily offer services such as job placement, counseling, skills training, and business development services, either as a suite of services or a stand-alone service. Each of these programs is geared toward meeting a combination of needs to ensure that their refugee clients can obtain better and sustainable jobs, most preferably in their field.

For those who want to start businesses, barriers such as a lack of assets, of credit history, and of understanding how to run a business in the United States prevent them from starting businesses. For example, a program coordinator from the International Institute of St. Louis working in the Economic Development Department expressed that "on average, the folks that we were looking at had to wait at least ten years before they could get a bank loan." Yet, even with such barriers, research has found that refugees are entrepreneurial; for example, 31 out of 1,000 Bosnian refugees are business owners, which is comparable to the U.S.-born population.³² Helping refugees overcome these challenges would further unlock their entrepreneurial potential.

Ideas used to improve employment and entrepreneurship prospects for refugees

The innovative ideas that employment programs use to help refugees find jobs that better match their skill level, guide them through a career path, and help them start businesses—all of which place them on a path to achieve economic self-sufficiency.

Employment and entrepreneurship programs provide a suite of services

In programs that provided employment and entrepreneurship services, institutions offered their refugee clients a blend of services that assisted them in working toward their career goals. For instance, Global Talent Idaho (GTI), based in Boise, Idaho, caters to highly skilled refugees and focuses on helping them "reclaim their professional careers" and place them "on a pathway to get to where they were in their country," according to its program administrator. GTI uses a variety of tactics to meet their goals. For example, with the widely used Upwardly Global³³ model—which aims to further professional integration of skilled immigrants and refugees—GTI provides their refugee clients with core classes to prepare them for a career path in the United States, help them build their resume, and have their foreign credentials evaluated.³⁴ One of the key features of GTI is that they offer paid internships in collaboration with local employers, which adds to refugees' experience and builds professional networks. They also pay for short-term training classes, such as the Microsoft Excel class they provided for a client who only had experience working with an older version of the software.

For those refugees and immigrants who want to start businesses, the Economic Development Department at the International Institute of St. Louis offers its clients a combination of business products.³⁵ They provide their clients with various business loans that start from as low as \$500 to as high as \$35,000; provide them with technical assistance to teach them the ins and outs of doing business in the United States; and develop their credit score, credit history, and a portfolio—or, in the program administrator's words, "an identity that they can take to the bank for when they need a bank loan."

Job placement programs maintain lasting relationships with local employers

Program coordinators of selected job placement programs frequently seek out new relationships with local employers and maintain older ties so that they are aware of the demands of the local job market and can match their clients accordingly. A strong relationship between organizations serving refugees and local employers is critical, since refugees themselves have limited or no networks in the United States—especially in the field in which they want to work. The lack of networks means a lack of information about the availability of jobs and the knowledge about required qualifications for those jobs. A career services program under New American Pathways, funded through the HHS' Social Services Grant and TAG, in Atlanta, places its success in the strong relationships it has built with local employers. This program is open to any refugee that has been in the United States for five years or less. The program administrator stated that:

Employers understand the value of working with us, in working with refugee clients. A lot of times, employers will seek us out because they're looking for new streams of getting employers there. They're like, 'I heard refugees are great. I heard they work hard, or they stay at the job, and they're loyal to the company and that they can pass all the background checks that are here.'

Employment programs involve employers or individuals with industry experience

In addition to maintaining relationships with local employers, employment programs often also have employers or experienced individuals from relevant fields conduct trainings, give presentations, act as mentors, and develop curricula for classes. This type of hands-on involvement of professionals provides an even stronger connection for the refugees and helps them better understand industry culture and jargon. The Hospitality Careers Pathway in St. Paul, Minnesota, under the International Institute of Minnesota, is designed to train female refugees to work in the hospitality industry.³⁶ They recently hired a hospitality instructor who is a former hotel executive housekeeper to prepare refugee women to work as hotel housekeepers. Besides teaching the women about safety policies at hotels and basic cleaning skills, the program also trains its clients to develop soft skills necessary to retain a job. It trains them to boost their communication skills, including how to talk to co-workers, help guests, and handle a complain. Furthermore, for women who want to advance in the hospitality field, they have a supervisor training program that focuses on building leadership and management skills.

Similarly, the Manufacturing Employment Program—under the International Institute of Buffalo in New York—bases its curriculum in part on input from various manufacturing employers. The program coordinator discussed that involving employers has been an effective model:

What's effective is that we've had the employers participate in the creation of the curriculum, so they really can't say, 'I don't want to hire somebody.' We asked them for their feedback when we created the class. We've used that model in the past, with other kinds of employers that we've worked with. We had a housekeeping program for years that we ran that was very successful, and that's the model we used. We worked with a large employer in creating the curriculum.

In the same institute in Buffalo, another program called Healthcare Interpreter Training and Certification trains refugees to become certified medical interpreters. Geared toward bilingual refugees with at least a high school diploma or equivalent, this program uses a curriculum that meets national standards and calls on experts from the medical community, such as physician's assistants, to discuss health conditions, treatments, procedures, tests, and other medical terms that students would need to know and understand while interpreting.

Similarly, a mentorship program known as Tatweer—which means "development" or "progress" in Arabic—under the Jewish Family Service of Seattle, uses professionals working in their fields as mentors to help refugees re-enter their fields and grow their networks.³⁷ These mentors can provide refugees with valuable information about industry vocabulary; familiarize them with major and minor employers in that industry; validate their foreign training; and help them learn about their industry in the United States. For example, the program pair refugees who are civil engineers with civil engineers in the U.S. —or someone who works with civil engineers—to ensure that refugee professionals can get the most out of the program. Mentors also help with targeted job searches and are well-situated to connect their mentees to networks in the industry.

Counseling and mentorship programs utilize available community resources

Since counselors and mentors generally work one-on-one with refugees, they tailor their advice according to individual cases and often connect them to services

available in the community. Programs increase their clients' access to other service providers in the area when they pull from a larger pool of community resources. A vocational counseling program under New American Pathways focuses on helping refugees to "zero in on an achievable goal and reach that goal," whether it is toward an educational path or a career path. They extensively pull from resources available in the community to provide refugees with the services that would benefit them. For example:

If it's an IT [information technology] workshop, there are these different programs that are already set up that give IT workshops for free or low cost. ... We're connecting clients with that person, so that they can go that way. We're not reinventing the wheel. We're using the tools in the community to help clients out.

Similarly, Tatweer, the mentorship program, also collaborates with local community colleges to explore options for their clients—for instance, whether they would be better off taking a course that will help in their career goals or if there are other ways to help the client.

Entrepreneurship programs take advantage of online marketplaces to sell products made by refugees

One program selected for this research, in Clarkston, Georgia, is called Peace of Thread, which uses a sewing trainer from Iraq to train refugee women to sew bags and other items.³⁸ At the end of their training, the refugees can take home the sewing machine they trained on and other sewing supplies, which gives them flexibility to work around their schedules, produce one-of-a-kind pieces, and earn an income. Finished pieces such as bags and purses are placed on Peace of Thread's website to sell anywhere from \$18 to more than \$350. The women are paid \$10 per hour for their labor and are taught to access their paychecks online. This program also has a branch in Memphis, Tennessee. While not included in this research study, versions of this model are used by other nonprofits such as SewREDI Buffalo in Buffalo, New York, and Re:new in Glen Ellyn, Illinois.³⁹ These organizations are able to provide a range of services: Refugees learn a profitable skill; earn an income and become independent; learn how to manage their money and business; and get connected to other artisans in the community. They also provide the artisan refugees with a platform to sell their products—a service that would have been inaccessible for an individual without technical support and know-how.

Impact of employment and entrepreneurship programs on refugees

The employment programs had a variety of impacts on the lives of their refugee clients—beyond providing them with a way to earn income.

- For refugees trying to re-enter their professional fields, many of the participants obtained jobs in their fields. For example, Global Talent Idaho helped a refugee trained as a pharmacist find work as a pharmacy technician while studying to earn his pharmacy degree and helped an engineer find work in an engineering firm while working to get relicensed. The vocational counseling program in Atlanta successfully connected a doctor from the Middle East to a phlebotomy training program to become a phlebotomist while he was preparing for an exam to apply for a residency and practice medicine in the United States. Also, in their first year, Tatweer's one-on-one mentorship program placed five of their 10 clients in jobs in their fields within six to nine months after they completed the program. They also have orientation classes that serve about 150 highly skilled individuals; these classes teach them about job markets and professional job searches.
- Working in professions that match their qualifications also provides refugees with dignity, hope, and a role model for their children. It is disheartening for a community to see a doctor or an engineer they know working as a taxi driver. The program coordinator for Global Talent Idaho recalled:

One of our doctors, when he first arrived, worked in a hot dog stand. It takes the dignity away from the entire community and the hope away from the children. I think when you start seeing teachers in the classrooms, which is happening through Global Talent Idaho ... not only do the parents say, 'OK, my kid can do it,' or 'I'm so glad the teacher—I know that teacher from the Congo.' There's just hope that others will rise above.

 Besides helping them learn basic entrepreneurship skills and open businesses, the economic development programs also help refugees become financially literate. They teach refugees the importance of saving, building credit, and utilizing mainstream banking. For instance, Peace of Thread teaches women to open an account and access their paychecks online. Credit building is so important that the Economic Development Department in Atlanta recently launched a credit-builder loan product focused exclusively on building credit history for their refugee and immigrant clients.⁴⁰

Working in professions that match their qualifications also provides refugees with dignity, hope, and a role model for their children.

• Also, since many of these services—especially skills trainings—are delivered in a group setting, refugees build relationships with other refugees from diverse backgrounds because many face similar issues. For example, the participants in the Hospitality Careers Pathway develop deep friendships and relationships that outlast the program.

Educational opportunities for refugees and their families

The programs identified in this set provide a range of educational services to children, youth, and adults to overcome different types of barriers. Many organizations provide English language classes, but the two English language programs selected for this report were designed to reach populations among the refugees who are homebound—mothers who must stay home with young children.⁴¹ This isolation essentially cuts women off from interacting with others and from improving their language skills. It also prevents children under the age of 5 from getting necessary experience to help them prepare for school. Furthermore, many parents of refugee children—young or school-age—are unaware of the benefits of early childhood education and are unfamiliar with the school systems.

Additionally, school-age children in refugee families face major hurdles in performing well at schools. For example, according to a program administrator at Bright Futures' after-school program, many refugee children are placed in grades beyond their reading level. The after-school programs attempt to bridge the gap as much as possible so that the children can do well in school. And as such, this collection of programs is critical to refugee integration because they make vital language services accessible to many homebound refugees and their children; raise awareness among refugee parents; and help refugee students flourish in school—all of this will help in other aspects of their lives.

Selected innovative ideas in delivering educational services

Some programs use techniques to devise solutions for issues that make it difficult for refugees to access essential educational services. Others are able to broaden refugees' social networks to enhance their knowledge about cultures, norms, and systems.

Educational programs utilize home-based classes for hard-to-reach refugee women and families with young children

Many refugee women with small children may not be able to leave their homes and access mainstream English language classes for reasons such as child care. The HELLO Program, under the International Institute of Buffalo in New York, is modeled to deliver English language classes to such women at home. A trained volunteer goes to his or her client's home for two hours per week for eight weeks and follow a curriculum to teach them English—some end up also teaching their clients about practical matters such as money and shopping in grocery stores. The program usually matches clients and volunteers by gender because many female refugees prefer female volunteers. The home-based nature of the classes can sometimes benefit the whole family. The coordinator of this program recalled an example of a volunteer:

He went there with the assignment of working with the mom, and all the sudden, the grandparents were participating. He wound up teaching the whole family.

This model has been so successful that they are looking toward expanding this program to refugees in the workforce—those who may be too tired to go to English classes after work.

Another program uses the same model to reach refugees, although to meet a different goal. New American Pathways has two programs for parents: one called Parents as Teachers (PAT), for those with young children under the age of 5, and another called School Liaison Services, for those with school-age children. While each program has a distinct goal, both involve regular home visits. The PAT program is designed for parents of young children to ensure school readiness and prevent child abuse. The program coordinator relayed that the main activities during these visits are:

Helping parents do skill building—activities with the children that are developmentally appropriate. Also, talk about expectations that the parents may have from their children. Talk about developmental milestones. Talk about appearance. Talk about different topics that are important: nutrition, safety, sleep, discipline, attachment. Also, do different screening from the children—developmental screening, health screening.

Through home visits, the School Liaison Services tracks how the child fares in the home environment and if there is anything that needs improvement. This program is primarily designed to form a bridge between parents, schools, and children.

Many educational programs have staff and volunteers who are U.S.-born or former refugees, increasing refugees' networks

Although not by design, many volunteers in the HELLO Program are U.S.-born or former refugees. This increases the interaction of refugees with people outside the resettlement agencies and helps them develop different relationships. These interactions introduce them to American culture and a different way of life. Another program in Clarkston, Georgia, called the Refugee Family Literacy Program, offers English classes designed for mothers and their small children of age 5 and under. While mothers are attending the English classes, their young children go through an early childhood development program. $^{\! 42}$ The program also has a component that brings mothers and children together for activities and another component that teaches mothers life skills. The Refugee Family Literacy Program uses volunteers from the refugee community as teacher's assistants for young children, helping them to maintain a connection with their first language while learning English.

The staff in the PAT program and School Liaison Services are also former refugees who understand the challenges that refugee parents face; can clearly communicate the responsibility of parents who have students enrolled in American schools; and can guide them as they navigate the school system. As the program coordinator of the Refugee Family Literacy Program stated:

The staff are former refugees themselves. The parents who know very well what it is to try to register your kid to school. Who know very well what it is to try to talk to the teacher who doesn't speak your language, to try to even read that progress report that has all this weird symbols and numbers. You have no idea what it says. They are the pioneers. They came here maybe eight years ago trying to navigate the system. Now they're the experts. They share the knowledge. They have relationships with schools established already. They literally guide the families and newly arrived families with the process.

After-school programs offer well-rounded services to bridge the educational gap facing refugee children

Refugee children often need an extra push to bring them up to speed with other children in their age group; they may have suffered from trauma, had limited access to education, and have parents who are themselves learning English. 43 A program coordinator at Bright Futures' after-school program in Atlanta pointed out that many refugee children are behind their grade level because they are often placed in classes above their reading level. The result of this mismatch is that the

children struggle to do the work assigned to them. These after-school programs for elementary and middle school students follow a curriculum that matches the children's reading level and provide students with homework assistance when parents cannot help because they may lack sufficient education or English language proficiency. They conduct a literacy assessment in the beginning and middle of the year to identify and track the reading levels of children. Then, the students are divided into small reading groups, which meet at least once a week, according to their reading level. They also provide students with a safe space to stay after school because their parents may work double shifts.

Impact of education programs on refugee families, children, and youth

- Providing opportunities to learn English is one of the main impacts of programs focused on language, especially for refugees who may not have easy access to these programs. For example, the HELLO Program increases access to English language services by teaching refugees English at home, and the Refugee Family Literacy Program provides parallel classes for mothers and their small children.
- Given that young children in some of these programs, such as the Refugee Family Literacy Program and PAT program, take development assessments and are under educators' constant supervision, there are more opportunities to diagnose developmental challenges at an early age.
- After-school programs have observed increases in refugee children's literacy levels and positive changes in their behavior at school. For example, according to the program coordinator, the program in Atlanta saw an average of around five levels of advancement, which is "more than a grade level in a year of after school."
- The PAT program coordinator stated that, in 2017, the program registered more than 100 refugee children in pre-K, which it sees as a direct result of educators working with refugee parents. The coordinator stated that the PAT educators working with the refugee parents explain:

To them, the value of early learning, sharing the research, shifting stereotypes from 'my child is too young to learn' to the point where the parents understand that 'no, actually this extra year will prepare them better for school.' It will set them up for success. They will learn valuable skills, particularly because parents have limited ability to help them once they enter school system.

• In programs that encourage group activities, such as in the Refugee Family Literacy Program, refugee women develop a sense of community, build a support system, and camaraderie. For example, the program coordinator recalled:

Another huge effect which maybe is the most important thing we're doing, is development of community and the mothers at our school. They're always on duty with their children, and this is their only uninterrupted adult time that they have ever. They really, really cherish that and are able to form friendships with other students in their classes and with teachers.

• Another program, called the Colorful Growers program under Project Focus on Integrating Newcomers through Education (FINE) in Winona, Minnesota, aims to educate refugee and immigrant youth about agriculture—teaching them how to grow vegetables, as well as how to sell them in the market, where they also learn about entrepreneurship, teamwork, and communication. 44 While the young people learn leadership and responsibility, the larger community gets an opportunity to interact with people from diverse backgrounds selling fresh produce in the local market.

In programs that encourage group activities, such as in the Refugee Family Literacy Program, refugee women develop a sense of community, build a support system, and camaraderie.

Boosting social integration of refugees

Social integration programs chosen for this research are unique and have different goals, but they all have an impact on furthering social integration of refugees. While there are many definitions of social integration, it generally occurs when newcomers and the larger society adapt to one another while maintaining their own cultural integrity.⁴⁵ Interaction among groups is one of the main ways through which social integration occurs. Highlighted here are initiatives started by police departments to serve their respective refugee communities better; a refugee settlement model in Connecticut that involves volunteers as co-sponsors; and an honors class taught in Jacksonville, Florida, that involves college students with the refugee community. These programs are diverse in their goals and methods but offer opportunities for refugees to interact and build trust with other community members. In doing so, they illustrate a range of practical ideas.

Initiatives focus on interaction and education between refugees and community members

Programs that have a focus on bringing community members together help build trust and relationships among participants. The Boise Police Department in Idaho has a full-time refugee liaison officer who stated that he works "closely with the community and the stakeholders that affect refugee and former refugees' lives."46 The officer added that while working toward building trust, his job is to educate refugees about how to become integrated and good community members. But the burden is not just on the refugees; the program involves police officers from different departments, such as property crime detectives, school resource officers, patrol officers, and canine officers, to meet with refugees to explore issues together during a 10-week program. The liaison officer recalled:

They got the chance to really share some stories, share background information, discuss lifestyles growing up. How is growing up in Boise different than growing up in Baghdad? How was traveling throughout the United States as a young kid different than traveling throughout the region of Congo, the Democratic Republic of [Congo]? They had a chance to really discuss what it was like to be human in different parts of the world.

Another initiative at Hicks Honors College (HHC) at the University of North Florida (UNF) in Jacksonville combines elements of education and interaction in college coursework. HHC has a class for their first-year honors students where they are paired up with refugee families to provide some basic assistance, such as mentoring their young children, providing homework assistance, practicing the English language, playing games, and helping parents with simple chores. The class is mutually beneficial for the college students and refugee families. It provides students who may have had very little interaction with refugees with a chance to see how they live and how hard they work and to learn about their lives; it allows refugee families to form a connection with college students who are typically from outside their networks.

Another program in Winona, the diversity training program under Project FINE, uses education to bridge the gap between refugees and the community by providing opportunities for local businesses to learn about refugees and build cultural competency. Project FINE's staff go out in the community and conduct diversity trainings for businesses, government, and educational institutions. These are paid services, and the presenters tailor the trainings according to the needs of the client. Most of the staff who conduct presentations are themselves refugees or immigrants.

While social integration is not the goal of the Community Co-Sponsorship Program in New Haven, Connecticut, its unique model uses community groups across the state to resettle refugees, encouraging interaction between volunteers and refugees. By design, it has an impact on the social integration of refugees, because the community groups conduct all aspects of resettlement and personally make sure that refugees learn to navigate the community. The community group comprises individuals, mostly women, who are educators, social workers, retired professionals, medical professionals, and retired doctors. The program coordinator said:

There's no better way for people, U.S. citizens, to meet and learn about and understand refugees. It can build long-term, sustained political support for refugee resettlement, in addition to being, really, the best way for a refugee family to get off to a good start.

Impact of these programs on the social integration of refugees

• The Refugee Liaison Program is effective in connecting refugees with the police department at a personal level and building trust through education and interaction. For example, refugees often reach out to the refugee liaison officer to ask him questions such as:

'How is the best way to go about getting permits if we want to do a human rights march?' 'We want to bring our culture and our festivals to the city of Boise. How do we go about doing that?' Having someone within city government that they can trust and know on a first name basis—they know my cell phone number. The refugee community knows how to get ahold of me. They can ask those questions and get an honest, timely answer.

- Through the community co-sponsorship model, refugees are in constant communication with volunteers and have opportunities to learn English and understand American and local culture. Even when refugees are resettled in places without a large refugee population, they are not as isolated; volunteers visit them and take care of them, making up for the lack of a community in their area.
- The activities in the first-year honors class at HHC in Jacksonville help encourage social integration for both college students and the refugees they serve. For example, an HHC program coordinator states:

The students are introducing them to American board games. They're going out and playing soccer with them. They are talking to them about social media. They're showing them movies. I think they get a guided, a curated version of American culture, which might make it a little easier for them, probably a safe place to ask a question of this older person—like, 'What is this Facebook thing my parents won't let me have?'

For the college students, they see the refugees from a different perspective and have a better understanding of their circumstances.

 In 2016, more than 700 individuals received diversity training in Winona through Project FINE, and organizations in Winona and the larger region often reach out to them to run more trainings. The program coordinator shared:

People want so much from us. We share the story of us. We share our story of who we are, why we are here, who are those refugee immigrants. Of course, the power of story is really so evident everywhere you go, because when trying to talk about Hmong people and share our personal experience, that's a powerful thing, and people really feel that and want to learn more.

Targeted services for refugees with specific needs

The U.S. refugee resettlement program prioritizes vulnerable individuals, such as victims of torture; people with physical or mental disabilities; and women and children at risk.⁴⁷ The prioritization of these groups also indicates the need for services tailored to unique barriers they may face. Initiatives discussed here use a variety of techniques to serve discrete groups of people. For example, there is a program for deaf refugees in Buffalo, New York; programs for those who need mental health care; and health care services for refugee children. While the programs are not directly comparable, there are some commonalities in their goals and in how services are delivered.

Programs aim to identify needs of refugees at arrival and connect them to service providers

Specialized programs aim to provide proper care for refugees with special needs quickly so that their integration process is smoother. In Buffalo, New York, the Deaf Access Services works with the Jewish Family Service of Buffalo and Erie County

to quickly route deaf refugees to the program that provides a wraparound service especially tailored for them.⁴⁸ Many times, newly arrived deaf refugees waste months going through programs that are not best suited to their needs or easily accessible. The Deaf Refugee Program focuses on providing cultural orientation, American Sign Language (ASL) classes, and a connection to other necessary services. One of the main problems for refugees who are deaf is the diversity in sign language they know or inadequate knowledge of any sign language. For example:

The common denominator ... is that none of them knew American Sign Language. They all are coming with different sign languages. Many of them have inadequate language skills of any kind, because they didn't have access to education, nor had they ever had exposure to other deaf people. We're really starting at a very elementary level with a lot of these adults.

Similarly, some programs also focus on screening refugees for mental health issues so that they can be directed to services tailored for them. Many refugees are likely to have mental health barriers that they need to overcome to better settle in their community. They leave their home countries under traumatic circumstances; may have experienced or witnessed violence or torture; or lost a loved one. Such factors could place them under high psychological and emotional stress that requires proper mental health care. Additionally, their experiences in refugee camps, which often extend to years, is likely to negatively affect their mental health.⁴⁹ Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and depression are some of the most common mental health issues among refugees.⁵⁰ While general health screenings are required by the ORR, it is unclear how often refugees are screened for their mental health.⁵¹ In cases where they are screened, organizations use various types of screening tools, such as the Vietnamese Depression Scale, the PTSD Symptom Scale—Self-Report Version, and Refugee Health Screener-15 (RHS-15). When refugees first arrive in St. Louis through the International Institute of St. Louis, they are screened for mental health using the RHS-15.52 This tool has 14 questions and a distress thermometer used to screen refugees for symptoms of distress such as anxiety, PTSD, and depression.⁵³ The results from this test are used to identify any mental health needs and to refer individuals to appropriate care. That care may be in the form of group counseling or long-term counseling.

Identifying health issues quickly is especially important when dealing with refugee children. The local resettlement agency in St. Louis sets up new refugee children with appointments in the Foreign Adoption Clinic and Educational Services (FACES) International Adoption and Refugee Clinic at the Cardinal Glennon

Children's Hospital. There, the children go through initial evaluation so that any health or behavioral issues of the children can get diagnosed and addressed sooner.⁵⁴ According to the program coordinator, one of the main problems in providing health care to refugee children is that many do not attend follow-up appointments because they lack transportation or often do not actively monitor health statuses. The clinic has hired a nurse to manage these children's cases to make sure that they do not fall through the cracks.

Initiatives provide specific services for vulnerable populations to better tackle their unique barriers

Along with offering ASL classes, the Deaf Refugee Program has innovative ways to support its clients' everyday needs. For example, because many deaf refugees do not understand ASL, it is often not enough to have an ASL interpreter accompany them to medical appointments. This program has a two-step interpreting service involving both an ASL interpreter and a deaf interpreter that is better-suited for deaf refugee patients. The program staff recalled:

The doctor would be speaking English. The ASL interpreter would hear the English and turn it into American Sign Language, and a deaf interpreter ... will take the ASL and turn it into something which is really a gesturing language.

Likewise, in Jacksonville, Florida, a mental health service called Project for Healing offers a barrier reduction service to their patients to help them overcome barriers in their day-to-day lives, such as transportation and communication.⁵⁵ For example, volunteers in this program ride a bus with their patients to their psychiatrist until they learn to do it themselves; teach them how to manage their medications; and walk them through how to obtain those medications from the pharmacy. The program coordinators pointed out that the hands-on nature of their service has been instrumental in helping refugee clients with mental health needs and easing their integration into the larger community.

The pediatrician and nurses from the children's clinic in St. Louis focused their efforts on increasing access to their health care services to encourage follow-up appointments. To resolve the transportation problem, the pediatrician emphasized that home visits were increasingly becoming a preferred service delivery method because it allows clinic staff to consistently deliver health care services to these children. The pediatrician recalled a story of a Somali family:

A Somali family ... has difficulty following up on appointments—they have eight kids. One of their kids is [in a] wheelchair. ... She is now 4; she's bigger than an infant. They have eight concrete steps that the mother has to get the wheelchair down and out, plus the child is now getting bigger. She's a small lady herself. Then she's got two younger infants. I mean how many of us could get to many appointments if we had that kind of barrier just to get in and out of the house, and then to get on a bus?

The programs highlighted here provide only a glimpse of how targeted services can be effective in delivering to certain groups of refugees who are hard to reach and what such programs can do for them. For these individuals, these services become instrumental to boost their integration since mainstream services are harder to access and often unsuitable for them.

One of the direct impacts of the Deaf Refugee Program is increased access to the services that are specifically designed for them

Impact of specialized services on the targeted refugee population

• One of the direct impacts of the Deaf Refugee Program is increased access to the services that are specifically designed for them—for instance, teaching them how to communicate in the United States using ASL. Once they learn how to communicate, they are able to take other steps toward integration. The program coordinator of the Deaf Refugee Program recalled that "people are starting to have the capacity to communicate about social issues, so we're starting to touch on issues like parenting and domestic violence. The group itself is starting to form a peer support."

Furthermore, they are also connecting refugees with the deaf community in the area and aiding in wider social integration.

 The children's clinic in St. Louis was able to increase access of their services by offering case management and flexible home visits. Through consistent medical care, they were able to identify many nutritional deficiencies, such as iron and vitamin deficiencies. They were also able to get these children to dentists and eye doctors.

Their impact can be measured through the increase in demand of their services. The first year they were in operation they had 77 new children. The second year, the clinic exceeded its goal of reaching 120 and ended up serving 148

new children. This year—their third year—they are confident that they will serve more than their goal of 120 children again, as they are servicing 12 to 18 children per month.

• Both mental health programs specified that meeting the mental health care needs of their clients encourages them to be well-adjusted and healthy. It helps them be self-sufficient, as well as to avoid homelessness and unnecessary emergency room visits.

Collaboration is one of the key ways for programs to meet the needs of their clients

Each of the organizations in this report built relationships with resettlement agencies; employers; other organizations; medical and health institutions; and local governments, to be more effective in serving their clients and to have a more significant impact.

Employment programs thrive when they maintain mutually beneficial relationships with local employers and other organizations, namely government entities and nonprofits. Global Talent Idaho, for example, values these relationships. The program coordinator stated:

We spend a lot of time outreaching to employers and educating them. ... I think making sure we're pretty tied into the community, from the resettlement agencies to other nonprofit organizations, the ethnic community groups—I think that's really important, that you have good partners—to the city of Boise. Really, one thing I have to say is our relationship with [Department of] Labor is really important. It's taken us a while to cultivate that.

Programs targeted at refugee parents and students collaborate with schools and other related institutions. The coordinator of the PAT program stated:

Parents as Teachers obviously—we have well-established partnerships. ... We collaborate with local pre-Ks. We collaborate with the local library branch, with Atlanta Board of Health, with other providers who deliver home visits. We have good relationships with Early Head Start, Head Start in the area.

And even if not physically housed within the hospital, programs in health services need strong relationships with the medical community to operate smoothly. For example, the program coordinator of the Healthcare Interpreter Training and Certification service in Buffalo emphasized that they need people who work in the medical field as partners so that they can have effective trainings for the interpreters. Additionally, she mentioned:

You need buy-in from the medical community. That's the main thing. ... We're so lucky because we have people that were just thrilled that this is happening. They do see non-English speakers, limited-English speakers in the hospitals every day. The people working in the field know that language is a huge barrier and culture is a huge barrier. Those who have worked with our interpreters, or with any interpreter, really appreciate the value that they're bringing into a medical encounter. You can't overstate it.

The Refugee Liaison Program with the Boise Police Department relies on community partners from government agencies and leaders of the refugee community to build trust with the refugee community and establish a line of communication. The officer stated that his work would not have been "possible without support from the mayor's office, city council, other divisions." He added:

It's partnering with the stakeholders that work with refugees on a daily basis. Then it is partnering with the informal and formal leaders within the refugee or former refugee community. Simply going out as a Boise police officer, I could not do this job as effectively as I can when I go alongside someone from the International Rescue Committee or the Agency for New Americans or the English Language Center. When I need to go out and meet with someone from the Congolese community, I can call up my friend ... who's been here for years and is very well-respected, educated. We can work off of one another to provide our community members with the correct resources that they need.

The program coordinators of the Colorful Growers program stressed that their program worked because of the partnership they had built within the community. They stated:

If we didn't have the collaboration and partnership that we have, we wouldn't be here. First of all, the county wouldn't allow us to have the plot, and that would be a big challenge.

Many organizations use their relationship with the refugee resettlement organizations to get connected to refugees. For example, children's health services, various deaf access services, and the honors class at HHC rely on their relationship with the resettlement agencies.

While many organizations rely on relationships they developed with other service providers in the area, one initiative in Boise, Idaho, plays a central role in building critical relationships among local agencies—both governmental and The Refugee Liaison Program with the Boise Police Department relies on community partners from government agencies and leaders of the refugee community

nongovernmental. Neighbors United, a refugee collaborative, is an example of a formal partnership between the Boise mayor's office and the Idaho Office for Refugees with an aim to bring different institutions together to advance refugee integration in Idaho.⁵⁶

Programs hosted within large organizations benefit from their structure

Many programs and initiatives are housed within larger organizations and they frequently benefit from the existing infrastructure, services offered in that institution, and relationships within the community. The clients of the Economic Development Department under the International Institute of St. Louis can take advantage of the myriad services offered at the institute, if needed. A program coordinator recalled a story of a client who was missing loan payments because she was going through a trauma-related issue. As soon as the staff found out, they were able to connect her to appropriate services in their in-house trauma center, after which she did much better.

Having a larger institutional support can also provide some programs with the infrastructure needed to operate. For example, the children's clinic that caters to refugee children in St. Louis is housed within the larger children's hospital and benefits from its support. A fourth-year medical student in the hospital, which is also an academic institution, has been working with the children's clinic to provide home visits for the refugee children. In this way, the program not only increases access, but it also trains future physicians to serve sensitive populations such as refugee children.

Another program that would not have been possible without the support of a larger institution is the first-year seminar at UNF's HHC, which connects students with refugee families. UNF already had connections with Lutheran Social Services, which resettles refugees.

Smaller programs that are not under a larger organization can still make a significant impact through connections elsewhere in the community. These programs rely on resources available in the larger community to provide services that the clients need but are not available in-house. Project for Healing in Jacksonville explicitly runs their program on what the program administrator calls "the center without walls perspective," meaning that "the focus is the community and being able to use the people in your community to connect your refugees with in order to help them." Even though this program is small with few full-time staff, they depend on programs available elsewhere in their community to help integrate their clients better and avoid being constrained by their size.

... the children's clinic that caters to refugee children in St. Louis is housed within the larger children's hospital and benefits from its support.

This group collaborates with representatives from hospitals, educational institutions, and law enforcement to formulate and implement a plan to create opportunities to better integrate refugees into their communities. They have a steering committee that comprises major decision-makers, as well as an implementation team with seven committees that is responsible for achieving various objectives, mainly pertaining to education, employment, health care, housing, transportation, and social integration. They have a paid local consulting agency that works with the planning team consisting of staff from the Idaho Office for Refugees and a representative from the mayor's office to coordinate and organize meetings among stakeholders in different committees. Having a platform for different institutions—from education to health—to regularly discuss the refugee community and collectively come up with a structured plan that better serves the entire community's needs and helps ensure that the city uses a multipronged plan in its approach as well.

Common challenges among the programs and solutions to overcome them

Overall, the programs presented in this report face several common challenges ranging from funding constraints to staffing issues. They reported using creative solutions to resolve some of these issues—solutions that can provide guidance for other organizations with similar concerns.

Lack of funds constrain programs' potential

One of the biggest challenges facing most programs is lack of funding. Insufficient funding limits service providers from better serving their refugee clients. They are unable to expand their reach or offer more services even when the demand is high; they are unable to hire as many full-time staff as necessary and must rely on parttime staff and volunteers; and many programs are funded by nonrenewable grants. These programs rely on a variety of funding sources—not solely on federal and state funds. They apply for grants from nonprofits such as United Way and private foundations, as well as seek individual donations to meet their needs. For example, Global Talent Idaho started with a federal grant from the Idaho Department of Labor; however, since that funding has expired, they rely mostly on individual donors. Some programs, such as the ones offered by the Economic Development Department in St. Louis, are largely funded by the ORR, but they also receive some funds from the Community Development Block Grant program and some contributions from local banks. Project for Healing in Jacksonville uses different funding streams to pay their expenses. Their staff member pointed out:

Florida Department of Health pays for our therapists and our rent, and then we have a grant through our hospital that pays for our case manager, and then ... our regular case manager is free, because she's an intern at the university. Then have another intern that's a clinical intern and she is also free, because she comes through the university, I believe. Then we also have what we call community collaborators and they are our volunteers.

It is common for program coordinators to find creative ways when obtaining funding to pay their staff. The position of volunteer coordinator for the HELLO Program is fully funded through AmeriCorps. The volunteer coordinator took on the project and was able to create the beginnings of the program. Similarly, the after-school program in Atlanta also uses AmeriCorps service members to partly staff the program.

Staffing and volunteer issues pose a challenge

A closely related issue to funding is having staff who are part-time or volunteers. A program administrator at the same after-school program in Atlanta found that:

One of the biggest impacts we've seen is when staff stay on. Currently, all of our after-school programming has part-time staff. There's a lot of turnover. But when we have staff who stay on for another year, and those relationships build more deeply, you see a bigger impact, I think, on the kids that are attending because they've built trust. They can open up more. That's also how we end up finding out a lot about issues going on in the home because a child trusts the teacher, knows him or her quite well. I would say that that's a very important component when we're able to have staff stay.

Furthermore, since the after-school program in Atlanta sometimes has children that have gone through trauma, staff and volunteers must quickly respond even when they are not trained social workers. The program coordinator from the Refugee Family Literacy Program also relayed similar challenges of teaching children below age 5 who speak multiple languages and have experienced trauma.

Programs that rely on volunteers illustrate the challenges in recruiting and training them. The program coordinator of the HELLO Program in Buffalo, which provides at-home English literacy classes, relayed that finding volunteers who are consistent with their work can sometimes be challenging because volunteers are busy with their own work.

Barriers stem from rigidity and time constraints in the refugee resettlement requirements

Often, the standard nature of the refugee resettlement process does not match up with the diversity of refugees and their needs. For example, according to the Deaf Refugee Program, the refugees who are deaf and hard of hearing may not be identified as requiring specialized support at the outset. Their coordinator states:

It's extremely scripted. This is what you have to do before they arrive, when they arrive. Here's a checklist. There's nothing in that process that has been developed to assess a person's hearing or instruct the resettlement worker on how to provide services to a deaf individual. We see folks coming to us several months after arrival, and the resettlement agency just can't understand why they didn't understand. 'We used an interpreter.' 'We used a sign language interpreter.' They don't understand about the DI, the deaf interpreter, thing. By the time they refer, all the sorts of important topics have been presented to them already. It's sort of missed opportunities.

Additionally, limited funding from the federal government for basic support such as housing puts a strain on resettling refugees in areas that have a high cost of living. In such cases, the community groups in New Haven, Connecticut, who are in charge of resettlement successfully raise private funding to fill those gaps.

To ensure that people don't fall through the cracks, programs get creative to support refugees beyond the 90-day basic support provided by the federal government. The HELLO Program in Buffalo links their clients with at-home English classes later so that there is some overlap between when the case closes at the 90th day and when the classes begin. The timing of classes allows for a safety net for those refugees beyond the cutoff date.

Some challenges are unique to serving the refugee population

Program coordinators state that attrition is one of the problems they face while serving refugees, especially when they need to come for training classes, English language classes, and go for regular doctor visits in addition to taking care of children or working full time. Many times, people drop out of programs because they must stay at home and take care of their children since there is no affordable child care, or they must take survival jobs. The U.S. refugee program's primary goal is to make people quickly self-sufficient, which sometimes leads to taking jobs

even though they do not fit their qualifications. Programs have tried to decrease barriers: For example, the Tatweer program in Seattle covers the living expenses of the refugees enrolled in that program to ensure that they are able to attend classes and take advantage of their mentorship program—ultimately leading to a job that better matches their qualification. Other programs have tried to increase access by delivering services at home, such as English language services, children's health services, and mentorship for parents of young children.

Transportation is also a huge barrier for refugees especially in places without a good public transportation system. It limits access to training classes, hospitals, schools, and other program sites. Many programs taught their clients to ride buses, sometimes provided bus passes, and helped them become independent. They also found alternatives to public transits where public transits were not available—for example, they arranged carpool drivers.

Finally, while English language fluency is a barrier for many refugees when they first enter, they are able to improve their language skills with time and the right resources. Most of these programs had a component that made an effort to improve refugees' communication skills either directly through English language classes or indirectly through interaction with others. The skills-training programs pointed out that there were many issues because the training materials were in English and the trainers had to be creative in teaching some of those materials. In programs that tried to increase social integration, service providers sometimes used interpreters to bridge the language gap and increase interaction. For instance, the refugee liaison officer in Idaho explained:

One of the challenges also leads itself right back into one of our biggest partnerships—language access and interpretation. As law enforcement officers, we're honored to get to work with all members of our community. Just because someone doesn't speak English doesn't mean that they shouldn't get served with the same level of respect, trust, and dedication that a naturally born American or a proficient English speaker receives. We contract with a large group of community members that are skilled interpreters and translators.

Changing local perspectives toward refugees

The programs covered in this report are spread out across the United States spanning from Seattle, Washington, in the West to Jacksonville, Florida, in the Southeast. The selected program coordinators generally felt that the view of refugees in their communities was mixed. While they felt that the communities they were in accepted refugees, they were acutely aware of the national rhetoric and politicization of the issue. However, some noted that they have seen an uptick in the number of volunteers in the past year and more interest in funding their programs. For example, one program coordinator in Atlanta explained:

In light of the recent political spotlight on the Syrian refugee crisis with the executive orders, with all of those sorts of things, we've actually seen overall overwhelmingly a very positive response from the community. We have received an inordinate number of volunteers coming, just begging for some way to be connected and help us do what we do, which we love. People just offering gifts, offering resources, offering their support in so many different ways, which is very, very encouraging to us and to our clients. We've had people write letters and notes of welcome and encouragement directly to our clients to let them know, to try to counteract any ... discomfort or fear that they might be feeling.

Almost all the program coordinators mentioned one or all of these three basic ideas to change local perspectives about refugees in local communities: education, media, and personal interaction with refugees. Some programs focused on educating employers and the business community, and others on the medical community. GTI holds career summits, networking events, and fundraisers where they have reiterated that "people are coming with talent. People are coming with education. This isn't charity. This is giv[ing] somebody an opportunity. Open[ing] a door for them," according to a GTI program coordinator. Many program coordinators also engage in social media and traditional media by sending out newsletters. Neighbors United from Idaho stated that they use social media to tell stories about commonalities among people, which helps build connections with local communities and refugees. Their aim:

To communicate effectively with the public; to get stories into the media, Facebook, social media. To present stories of real people with real concerns, real hopes and aspirations and real commonality with others who are already here. There are so many common grounds that many people don't acknowledge when they haven't ever met someone who is from another country.

Many organizations also emphasized promoting personal interaction. For example, one staff from the Hospitality Career Pathway recalled a story where a supervisor who worked well with students was replaced:

The more that people who're uncomfortable with immigrants and refugees come into contact, the more comfortable they get. ... They had a new supervisor come in who had never really worked with our populations before, and she was very tough on them. ... It was really interesting, because, over time, we watched our students just warm up this person. They brought her food. They brought their kids to meet her, and their husbands. They just brought her in and eventually forced her to come into contact with them in a more personal way.

Another program coordinator highlighted:

I know this sounds very simplistic, but just meeting real live Syrian refugees will change people's minds. Chatting with them. Hearing how they're struggling to learn English. Maybe even hearing a story of how they had to run for their lives. Seeing a father of a family accept a job cleaning a factory when back in Syria he was the proud owner of four factories. Seeing kids learn English like skyrockets, learning it so quickly. Winning student of the month awards. Tasting their cooking.

There are so many common grounds that many people don't acknowledge when they haven't ever met someone who is from another country.

Refugees contribute to their entire communities

There was a widespread consensus among the program coordinators that refugees contribute to their local communities in a variety of ways—both economic as well as noneconomic. The employment programs showcase refugees who are working to become doctors, lawyers, engineers, and cardiologists and they are serving other residents. Refugees in cities such as Atlanta are filling important jobs. One program coordinator stated that refugee employment was vital to their local economy:

A lot of these companies would probably go under if there weren't refugee employment, because some of these places, they just can't get American workers to apply there and stay there.

Furthermore, refugees start businesses, pay taxes, buy houses, and revitalize neighborhoods. Refugees and immigrants open up eclectic shops and diverse restaurants, introducing the community to new cultures and cuisines. For example, the HELLO Program coordinator from Buffalo stated that "certain streets of Buffalo have been really redeveloped because of refugees starting businesses in those refugee communities." In particular, the restaurants and shops in a certain area in Buffalo, New York, have become a destination to explore cuisines.

While most agree that refugees boost the economic well-being of a community, many coordinators emphasized that the social and cultural diversity they bring to their communities was also a contribution. Refugees provide a different perspective, introduced different art and culture and added a richness to the community. Their arrival allows opportunities for locals to interact with people from other countries and add diversity—not just in neighborhoods but also in schools and businesses.

Research also shows that refugees do better over time and integrate into the communities in a variety of ways.⁵⁷ They learn English, see their wages increase, move up the occupational ladder, and participate in the labor force in large percentages. One program coordinator recalled stories about Hmong families that came to the United States from Asia in the 1990s and were living in public housing. After only a decade and a half they moved out of low-income housing, purchased their own homes, and their children had gone off to college. When refugees become successful, they become models for other refugees. A program coordinator recalled a story of a refugee who was able to re-enter his career:

This guy who we resettled a long time ago, now he's a doctor, and he's actually come back to us, and he's started something on his own—to have a mentorship for people, to show them that there's a path. He's really willing and able. He takes out a lot of his days as a cardiologist to come here and talk to people and say, 'Right now it's not great. I was a dishwasher. I learned English. I did dishwashing. Then I got to school and now I'm a doctor. It took me a long time to get there, but the path is there if you work for it.'

Recommendations

At a time when the world is facing one of the worst refugee crises since World War II, many countries are working to integrate these newcomers into their communities and foster a mutually beneficial relationship. The United States has slashed its efforts to share responsibility in refugee resettlement, decreasing its refugee admission target for 2018 and proposing deep funding cuts to the USRAP. These recent actions of the Trump administration ignore the fact that, historically, the United States has been a leader in resettling refugees. Communities that have been receiving refugees—in some cases, for more than three decades—have built an infrastructure and developed ideas investing in the long-term integration of refugees. This work is frequently supported through federal and state grants and often also by private donations and foundations. While the application of these ideas is context-driven, the problems they try to resolve are common in refugee resettlement and provide valuable insight. The programs reviewed in this report ensure that refugees feel welcome; that communities understand and accept their new neighbors; and that both can learn from each other. The sooner the newcomers are comfortable, the sooner they can meet their full potential and contribute to U.S. communities.

Overall, recommendations gleaned from this research are as follows:

The administration must restore the U.S. refugee resettlement program to match global needs

It is extremely shortsighted to weaken the U.S. refugee resettlement program that has taken decades to build and develop. When the humanitarian needs of the world are increasing every passing day with people forced to leave their homes and flee violence, persecution, and conflicts, the answer is not to make it harder for them to find a haven. Refugee resettlement organizations, their local affiliates, and other nonprofits or community groups are vital in this process and have invested

years to develop their networks and build relationships. Weakening the refugee program through admission reductions and cuts to essential funding translates to hurting these established programs, experienced personnel, and community relationships. Instead, the administration should strengthen systems and foster an environment where communities and refugees can prosper. The U.S. refugee program needs to be restored to the levels that match the global need.

Organizations should adopt strategies to find diverse sets of funding, including reaching out to local funders

Funding is a pervasive challenge in maintaining the success of these programs and making necessary improvements as well. With the proposed cuts in federal funding and number of refugee admission slots, organizations should plan to diversify their funding streams using a mixture of funds from government and nongovernmental resources—including private funding. They must be creative in using a combination of techniques from traditional networking and using social media to raise awareness about their programs. And in turn, local funders can and should do more to fill the vacuum that is increasingly being left by the federal government.

Furthermore, organizations should explore new ideas, such as entities that work in impact investment, a concept where investments are made to benefit the society as well as to make a financial gain. A number of investment firms have added investing in refugees or companies supporting refugees as part of their portfolio. An investment firm called Humans on the Move makes place-based investments to support refugee businesses who need capital but do not qualify for traditional bank loans.⁵⁸

Organizations can also explore funds that have some wider eligibility criteria than those that are just refugee-focused. They could apply for federal, state, and local programs to fund activities covered under a program's guidelines to serve their refugee clients who fit the eligibility criteria. One program coordinator providing employment services to refugees mentioned that a federal program called Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Employment and Training⁵⁹ funds activities that help low-income working families—those who are SNAP program participants or potential participants—to increase their employment prospects.

Weakening the refugee program through admission reductions and cuts to essential funding translates to hurting these established programs, experienced personnel, and community relationships.

Organizations should do more to connect with and learn from each other

Many of these programs are struggling with the same types of challenges: funding; dealing with the strict requirements of the U.S. refugee program; managing the challenges that come with working with refugee communities; training and overseeing volunteers; and quick turnovers in staff. Although organizations do look toward others to learn how similar programs are run, they can do more to connect with other organizations and maintain that connection to confront some of the common issues they are facing and share ideas. This can be done semiformally with regularly scheduled calls or meetings, if possible. To advance and institutionalize knowledge sharing, organizations may proactively form groups or leagues and seek foundations to fund such platforms. Knowledge sharing is more important now than ever as these programs are under threat.

Organizations should expand their services to the wider community while maintaining their specialized services for newly resettled refugees

The organizations reviewed in this report fulfill an essential role and do a service to the community to maintain relationships and help communities advance together. To preserve the highly specialized knowledge of the organizations and their staff, organizations should look toward diversifying the population they serve. For example, if an organization is only serving newly resettled refugees, it should reach out to established refugees who may also need those services. For instance, the children's clinic in St. Louis serves newly arrived refugees but has been branching out to other refugee children who have been settled for a while. The International Institute of St. Louis serves immigrants and provides services exclusively for refugees—they have a program for low-income refugee women called the Peer Lending Program, which gives \$1,000 in interest-free microloans to small businesses that must be paid in 12 months.⁶⁰

Organizations should continue to invest in recruiting and training volunteers

Many of these programs rely on committed volunteers to deliver their services partly because of resource constraints. While finding volunteers who are consistent may be an issue for some organizations, volunteers still provide a valuable

service and help them meet their needs in a cost-effective way. Since volunteers play an important role in these organizations, it makes even more sense to invest in both attracting, training, and retaining them. Furthermore, using volunteers from the larger community helps refugees develop relationships, often strong ones, with individuals who are from a different circle. Volunteers become more aware about the struggles of being a refugee and challenges a newcomer faces in an unfamiliar country.

Regions and cities should consider forming umbrella organizations that focus on improving the refugee integration process

One of the programs this research studied, Neighbors United in Boise, Idaho, is a good example of an organization that regularly brings all relevant stakeholders to the table. A collaborative effort between Boise mayor's office and the Idaho Office for Refugees, this initiative raises awareness among all levels of services—including city government, hospitals, and schools—about some of the barriers that can be resolved through planning. Together, they are able to push and implement for practical solutions that advance the entire community. Establishing an organization such as Neighbors United could serve as a platform for bringing different stakeholders together. This initiative's funding is split between the city of Boise and the Idaho Office for Refugees; the program coordinator insists that the collaborative is effective partly because they have hired a local firm to organize the meetings.

Conclusion

The effort and creativity of local organizations to welcome refugees and help them integrate into the community runs opposite to the negative rhetoric about refugees at the national level. Every day, the staff, caseworkers, trainers, mentors, and volunteers involved in these programs identify new and effective ways of solving unique issues; make life easier for these new Americans; and enrich the entire community. While there is no cookie-cutter approach to resolving some of these issues, these ideas and practices can be replicated and expanded. This report just starts to look at what is available, but at a time when the world is facing an unprecedented refugee crisis, these organizations provide valuable insight into what works in refugee integration. This is no time to stifle the existence of programs that have taken years to develop. But the fact the refugee admission slots are slashed for 2018 and funding for the U.S. refugee admission program could be drastically reduced makes it even more important to document some of the innovative methods used by these local programs.

About the author

Silva Mathema is a senior policy analyst on the Immigration Policy team at the Center for American Progress. Her current research focuses on U.S. immigration and refugee policies, particularly around integration issues. Previously, she worked as a research associate for the Poverty and Race Research Action Council, where she studied the intersections between race and ethnicity issues and policies regarding affordable housing and education. Silva earned her Ph.D. in public policy from the University of North Carolina at Charlotte, where her dissertation focused on the impact of a federal immigration enforcement program on the integration of Hispanic immigrants in Charlotte-Mecklenburg, North Carolina. She graduated magna cum laude from Salem College with a Bachelor of Arts in economics. She is originally from Kathmandu, Nepal.

Acknowledgements

The author is thankful to the staff members who participated in this study without whose help this report would not have been possible. The programs are as follows:

- Refugee Liaison Program at the Boise Police Department—Boise, Idaho
- Deaf Refugee Program under Deaf Access Services—Buffalo, New York
- FACES International Adoption and Refugee Clinic at the Cardinal Glennon Children's Hospital—St. Louis, Missouri
- Global Talent Idaho—Boise, Idaho
- Community Co-Sponsorship Program at the Integrated Refugee and Immigrant Services—New Haven, Connecticut
- Programs at the International Institute of Buffalo: Manufacturing Employment Program, Healthcare Interpreter Training and Certification, and the HELLO Program—Buffalo, New York
- Hospitality Careers Pathway under the International Institute of Minnesota— St. Paul, Minnesota
- Departments at the International Institute of St. Louis: Economic Development Department and Vulnerable Populations—St. Louis, Missouri
- Neighbors United: Refugee Collaborative of Boise—Boise, Idaho
- Programs under New American Pathways: Social Services Grant and Targeted Assistance Program, Vocational Counseling Program, Parents as Teachers, Bright Futures' after-school program, and School Liaison Services—Atlanta, Georgia
- Peace of Thread—Clarkston, Georgia

- Programs under Project FINE: Colorful Growers, Diversity Training— Winona, Minnesota
- Project for Healing—Jacksonville, Florida
- Refugee Family Literacy Program—Clarkston, Georgia
- Hicks Honors College at the University of North Florida—Jacksonville, Florida
- Tatweer Program at the Jewish Family Service of Seattle—Seattle, Washington

The author is grateful to Amanda Bergen-Shilcock from National Skills Coalition; Rachel Peric, Hannah Carswell, and Susan Downs-Karkos from Welcoming America; Becca Heller and Betsy Fisher from the International Refugee Assistance Project for providing guidance during the initial phases of the study; and Mike Mitchell from HIAS for serving as a resource and reviewing the report. She also thanks Tom Jawetz and Philip E. Wolgin of the Center for American Progress for their input and support, the LGBT Research and Communications Project for providing technical assistance, the Editorial team for their work on this report, and former interns Angie Bautista-Chavez and Christian Juarez for their help with analyzing the interview transcripts.

Endnotes

- 1 Dara Lind, "Get ready for the permanent travel ban to go into effect," Vox, November 14, 2017, available at https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2017/11/13/16646182/muslim-ban-travel-ruling.
- 2 Migration Policy Institute, "U.S. Annual Refugee Resettlement Ceilings and Number of Refugees Admitted, 1980-Present," available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/programs/data-hub/charts/us-annual-refugeeresettlement-ceilings-and-number-refugees-admittedunited (last accessed January 2018).
- 3 U.S. Department of State, Congressional Budget Justification, Department of State, Foreign Operations, and Related Programs, Fiscal Year 2019 (2018), p. 145, available at https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/ documents/1868/FY_2019_CBJ.pdf.
- 4 U.S. Department of State, "U.S. Refugee Admissions Program: Application and Case Processing," available at https://www.state.gov/j/prm/ra/admissions/index.htm (last accessed January 2018).
- 5 Yeganeh Torbati and Mica Rosenberg, "Exclusive: State Department tells refugee agencies to downsize U.S. operations," Reuters, December 21, 2017, available at https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-immigrationrefugees-exclusive/exclusive-state-department-tellsrefugee-agencies-to-downsize-u-s-operations-idUSKB-N1EF2S5.
- 6 Michael Fix, Kate Hooper, and Jie Zong, "How are Refugees Faring? Integration at U.S. and State Levels" (Washington: Migration Policy Institute, 2017), available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/how-arerefugees-faring-integration-us-and-state-levels.
- 7 For more information see U.S Department of State, Proposed Refugee Admissions for Fiscal Year 2018 (2018) available at https://www.state.gov/documents/organization/274857.pdf.
- 8 David Dyssegaard Kallick and Silva Mathema, "Refugee Integration in the United States" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2016) available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/reports/2016/06/16/139551/refugee-integration-in-theunited-states/.
- 9 U.S. Department of State, Congressional Budget Justification, Department of State, Foreign Operations, and Related Programs, Fiscal Year 2019.
- 10 U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees, "Global Trends: Forced Displacement in 2016" (2017), available at http://www.unhcr.org/5943e8a34.pdf.
- 11 U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees, "UNHCR Projected Global Resettlement Needs 2018" (2017), available at http://www.unhcr.org/en-us/protection/ resettlement/593a88f27/unhcr-projected-globalresettlement-needs-2018.html.
- 12 Julie Hirschfeld Davis and Miriam Jordan, "White House Weighs Lowering Refugee Quota to Below 50,000," The New York Times, September 12, 2017, available at https://www.nytimes.com/2017/09/12/us/politics/ trump-refugee-quota.html.
- 13 Eleanor Acer and Natasha Ampriester, "U.S. Leadership Forsaken: Six months of the Trump Refugee Bans" (Washington: Human Rights First, 2017), available at https://www.humanrightsfirst.org/sites/default/files/ HRF-US-Leadership-Forsaken-FINAL.pdf.

- 14 U.S Department of State, Proposed Refugee Admissions for Fiscal Year 2018.
- 15 Yeganeh Torbati and Mica Rosenberg, "Under Trump plan, refugees from 11 countries face additional U.S. barriers," Reuters, October 24, 2017, available at https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-immigration-refugees/ under-trump-plan-refugees-from-11-countries-faceadditional-u-s-barriers-idUSKBN1CT2IV.
- 16 U.S. Department of Homeland Security, "Improved Security Procedures for Refugees Entering the United States," Press release, October 24, 2017, available at https://www.dhs.gov/news/2017/10/24/improvedsecurity-procedures-refugees-entering-united-states. Also see Rex W. Tillerson, Elaine Duke, and Daniel Coats, Resuming the United States Refugee Admissions Program with Enhanced Vetting Capabilities (U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 2017), available at https://www. dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/17_1023_S1_ Refugee-Admissions-Program.pdf.
- 17 U.S. Department of Homeland Security, "DHS Announces Additional, Enhanced Security Procedures for Refugees Seeking Resettlement in the United States," Press release, January 29, 2018, available at https:// www.dhs.gov/news/2018/01/29/dhs-announcesadditional-enhanced-security-procedures-refugeesseeking-resettlement.
- 18 To be a part of this research, the program must serve refugees either exclusively or along with other immigrants. For a full list of programs interviewed, please refer to the Acknowledgements section of the report. For the purposes of maintaining anonymity, all interviewees are referred to as program coordinators.
- 19 Bruce L. Berg, Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences (Boston: Allyn and Bacon, 2006).
- 20 U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees, "Convention and Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees" (2010), available at http://www.unhcr.org/3b66c2aa10.html; U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees, "States Parties to the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees and the 1967 Protocol," available at http://www.unhcr. org/3b73b0d63.html (last accessed December 2017).
- 21 U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees, "Refugee Resettlement Facts," available at http://www.unhcr. org/en-us/resettlement-in-the-united-states.html (last accessed January 2018).
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 U.S. Department of State, "The Reception and Placement Program," available at https://www.state.gov/j/ prm/ra/receptionplacement/index.htm (last accessed January 2018).
- 24 U.S. Department of State, Proposed Refugee Admissions for Fiscal Year 2018. The local affiliates keep the nine resettlement agencies informed about what the community can offer regarding employment, interpreters, English language classes, affordable housing, and schools with special services.
- 25 U.S. Department of State, "The Reception and Placement Program."

- 26 U.S. Department of State, "The Reception and Placement Program." For more information on funding, see Administration for Children and Families, "ORR Benefitsat-a-Glace," available at https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/ default/files/orr/orr fact sheet benefits at a glance. pdf (last accessed February 2018); Refugee Council USA, "Services Upon Arrival," available at http://www. rcusa.org/integration-of-refugees/ (last accessed January 2018); Office of Refugee Resettlement, "About Cash and Medical Assistance," available at https://www.acf. hhs.gov/orr/programs/cma/about (last accessed Januarv 2018).
- 27 For more information on state programs, see Office of Refugee Resettlement, "Find Resources and Contacts in Your State," available at https://www.acf.hhs.gov/orr/ state-programs-annual-overview (last accessed January
- 28 Office of Refugee Resettlement, "About the Voluntary Agencies Matching Grant Program," available at https:// www.acf.hhs.gov/orr/programs/matching-grants/ about (last accessed January 2018).
- 29 Office of Refugee Resettlement, "About Targeted Assistance," available at https://www.acf.hhs.gov/orr/ programs/targeted-assistance/about (last accessed January 2018).
- 30 U.S. Department of State, "The Reception and Placement Program."
- 31 Kallick and Mathema, "Refugee Integration in the United States"; Fix, Hooper, and Zong, "How Are Refugees Faring? Integration at U.S. and State Levels"; Kate Brick and others, "Refugee Resettlement in the United States: An Examination of Challenges and Proposed Solutions" (New York: Columbia University School of International and Public Affairs, 2010), pp. 12-13, available at https://www.scribd.com/document/159737948/ Refugee-Settlement-in-the-US.
- 32 Kallick and Mathema, "Refugee Integration in the United States."
- 33 See more at Upwardly Global, "About Us," available at https://www.upwardlyglobal.org/about-us/ (last accessed February 2018).
- 34 Other organizations have also used the Upwardly Global model to serve their immigrant and refugee clients. For example, The Mosaic Project in St. Louis uses this model to connect their international population with skilled jobs. See Deborah Amos, "How One U.S. Group Turns Migrants Into Employees," NPR, December 28, 2016, available at https://www.npr.org/sections/ parallels/2016/12/28/507146518/how-one-u-s-groupturns-migrants-into-employees. For more information, see Upwardly Global, "About Us."
- 35 International Institute of St. Louis, "Pillar 2: Investment: Economic Development," available at https://www.iistl. org/edintro.html (last accessed February 2018).
- 36 International Institute of Minnesota, "Workforce Development," available at https://iimn.org/programs/ workforce-development/ (last accessed January 2018).
- 37 For more information about Tatweer, see Tatweer, "Home," available at http://www.jfsseattle.org/tatweer/ (last accessed February 2018).
- 38 Peace of Thread, "Home," available at http://www. peaceofthread.com/ (last accessed February 2018).

- 39 SewREDI Buffalo, "Home," available at http://www. sewredibuffalo.com/ (last accessed January 2018); Re:new, "Products," available at https://www.renewproiect.org/collections/all (last accessed January 2018): for a list of similar projects, see Refugee Council USA. "Refugee-Made Products," available at http://www. rcusa.org/refugee-made-products/ (last accessed January 2018).
- 40 International Institute of St. Louis, "Pillar 2: Investment."
- 41 Refugee Family Literacy Program, "Our Program: The family literacy approach," available at https://www. mommyandmefamilyliteracy.com/our-program (last accessed February 2018).
- 42 Refugee Family Literacy Program, "Who We Are," available at https://www.mommyandmefamilyliteracy.com/ (last accessed February 2018).
- 43 Kate Hooper and others, "Young Children of Refugees in the United States: Integration Successes and Challenges" (Washington: Migration Policy Institute, 2016) available at https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/ young-children-refugees-united-states-integrationsuccesses-and-challenges.
- 44 For more information, see Project FINE, "About," available at http://www.projectfine.org/about.html (last accessed February 2018).
- 45 John W. Berry, "Immigration, Acculturation, and Adaptation," Applied Psychology: An International Review 46 (1) (1997): 5-34, available at http://iaccp.org/sites/ default/files/berry_1997.pdf.
- 46 For more information on the Refugee Liaison Program, see City of Boise, "Refugee Liaison," available at https:// police.cityofboise.org/home/specialty-units/refugeeliaison/ (last accessed January 2018).
- 47 U.S. Department of State, Proposed Refugee Admissions for Fiscal Year 2018. For priority levels, see David A. Martin, The United States Refugee Admissions Program: Reforms for a New Era of Refugee Resettlement (U.S. Department of State, 2004), available at https://2001-2009. state.gov/g/prm/refadm/rls/rpts/36958.htm.
- 48 For more information about Deaf Refugee Program, see Deaf Access Services, "Support Services," available at http://www.wnydas.org/services/support-services (last accessed February 2018).
- 49 Refugee Health Technical Assistance Center, "Mental Health," available at http://refugeehealthta.org/ physical-mental-health/mental-health/ (last accessed February 2018); U.N. High Commissioner for Refugees, "Operational Guidance Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Programming for Refugee Operations" (2013), available at http://www.unhcr.org/en-us/protection/ health/525f94479/operational-guidance-mentalhealth-psychosocial-support-programming-refugee. html.
- 50 Kelly Polcher and Susan Calloway, "Addressing the Need for Mental Health Screening of Newly Resettled Refugees: A Pilot Project," Journal of Primary Care and Community Health 7 (3) (2016): 199-203.
- 51 Susan H. Rhema and others, "Mental Health Screening." In Aniyizhai Annamalai, ed., Refugee Health Care: An Essential Medical Guide (New York: Springer, 2014).
- 52 International Institute of St. Louis, "Vulnerable Populations," available at https://www.iistl.org/Vulnerable-Pop. html (last accessed February 2018).

- 53 Polcher and Calloway, "Addressing the Need for Mental Health Screening of Newly Resettled Refugees"; for more information on the Refugee Health Screener-15, see Pathways to Wellness, "Integrating Refugee Health and Well-Being: Creating pathways for refugee survivors to heal: Refugee Health Screener - 15 (RHS-15)" (2011), available at http://x9yjk2t4l9ghu7ty7bhu81ac.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/ RHS15_Packet_PathwaysToWellness-1.pdf.
- 54 SLUCare Physician Group, "Meeting the Health Needs of Refugee and Internationally Adopted Children," May 9, 2016, available at http://www.slucare.edu/newsroom/town-and-style-faces.php.
- 55 Project for Healing Inc., "Services," available at http:// projectforhealing.org/services/ (last accessed February
- 56 Neighbors United, "Home," available at http://neighborsunitedboise.org/ (last accessed February 2018).
- 57 Kallick and Mathema, "Refugee Integration in the United States."
- 58 Christine L. Mendonça, "Responding to the Refugee and Migration Crisis with Impact Investing," Medium, April 4, 2017, available at https://medium.com/ humans-on-the-move/responding-to-the-refugee-and $migration\hbox{-}crisis\hbox{-}with\hbox{-}impact\hbox{-}investing\hbox{-}fb 318 f6 b8 c51.$
- 59 National Skills Coalition, "SNAP Employment and Training," available at https://www.nationalskillscoalition. org/federal-policy/snap-employment-and-training (last accessed January 2018).
- 60 International Institute of St. Louis, "Peer Lending Program," available at https://www.istl.org/peerlending. html (last accessed February 2018).

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, American Progress can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

Center for American Progress